A N D R O G Y N E , A N D R O G Y N O U S , B ATT Y M A N , B I - G E N D E R E D B O I , B O I S , C H A P AT B A Z , C R O S S D R E S S E R , C U I R , D A D A S A N A D E R E Y A L , D H U R A N I , D I F F E R E N C E S O F S E X D E V E L O P M E N T D I K E D U M E , D S D , D U K E D U M E , E N C H A Q U I R A D O S

The State of Trans* and Intersex Organizing

A case for increased support for growing but under-funded movements for human rights

FA'AFINE, FAAFAFINE, FANM, FEMME, FTX, GENDER DIVERSE, GENDERFABULOUSNESS, GENDERFUCKED GENDERQUEER, GENDERQUESTIONING, GENDERVARIANT GIRL-BOY, HERMA, HERMAPHORODITE, HIJADA, HIJJADA HIJRA, HOMOSEXUELLE, INTER*, INTERSEX, JOGAPPA KATHOEY, KEUSA, KOTHI/KOTI, LAUNDA, LEITI, LESBIANAS LESBIEN, MAKNYAH, MALAAYA, MANBORNFEMALE MASCULINEOFCENTER (MOC), MSM, MTM, MURAT, MUXHE N A C H C H I, N A C H I, N A L U G A L O , N A M Y E K O Z O , N E U T R O I S N D E E B A , N O N - B I N A R Y , N O N G E N D E R E D , N O N - G E N D E R E D O M E G G I D , O M E G U I T , P E D E , P E R F O R M E R , P H A T A D A Q'IWA, QUEER, RUPANTORKAMI, SASU, SEXWORKERS CLIENTS, SISTERGIRL, SOFFA, TAKATAAPUI, THIRD G E N D E R . T H I R U N A N G A I , T R A N S * , T R A N S , T R A N S G E N E R A TRANSGENRE/TRANSGENRES.TRANSGENERASFEMININAS TRANSGÉNERO, TRANSEXUALES, TRANSMASCULINE, TRANS MASCULINOS, TRANSPINAY/TRANSPINOY, TRANSSEXUAL TRANSEXUE, TRAVESTI/TRAVESTIS, TRANSFORMISTA TRANSFORMISTAS, TRAV, TRAVELLO, TRAVEST TRAVESTIE, TWOSPIRIT, VESTIDAS, WARIA, WHAKAWA WOMENLOVINGWOMEN, XY-FRAUEN, YA, ZWITT





Acknowledgments

This report was produced by Global Action for Trans* Equality, American Jewish World Service and Strength in Numbers, with project support from Mama Cash and general support from the Arcus Foundation, Open Society Foundations, HIVOS and an anonymous donor.

Writing by Justus Eisfeld, Sarah Gunther and Davey Shlasko, with extensive input from Mauro Cabral. Survey design and data analysis by Jonathan Rodkin and Somjen Fraser of Strength in Numbers. Research support by Nachale (Hua) Boonyapisomparn. External review by Jack Byrne, Heather Doyle, David Scamell, Hida Viloria and Esther Vonk. Editing by Leah Kaplan Robins, Anne Lieberman and Stuart Schear. Design by Davyd Pittman and Elizabeth Leih.

We are grateful to the hundreds of trans* and intersex activists who took time out from their important work to respond to the survey and share their stories with us. We hope this report will serve and advance their work.



When referencing this report, we recommend the following citation: Eisfeld, J, Gunther, S and Shlasko, D. (2013) *The State of Trans* and Intersex Organizing: A case for increased support for growing but under-funded movements for human rights.* New York: Global Action for Trans* Equality and American Jewish World Service.

About Global Action for Trans* Equality (GATE): GATE is a global trans* organization that works on trans* rights at the global level, supports trans* movements worldwide and makes critical knowledge and resources available to trans* activists. GATE focuses on the reform of the International Classification of Diseases, access to funding for trans* movements, and global HIV policy.

About American Jewish World Service (AJWS): American Jewish World Service is the leading Jewish organization working to promote human rights and end poverty in the developing world. AJWS advances the health and rights of women, girls and LGBTI people; promotes recovery from conflict, disasters and oppression; and defends access to food, land and livelihoods. We pursue lasting change by supporting grassroots and global human rights organizations in Africa, Asia, Latin America and the Caribbean, and by mobilizing our community in the U.S. to advocate for global justice.

Front Cover: Gender identity terms provided by survey respondents.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
Background:	
Methodology	2
Glossary of Terms	3
Human Rights Violations Against Trans* and Intersex People	4
Key Milestones in Trans* and Intersex Organizing	7
Funding Landscape for Trans* and Intersex Work	9
Survey Results:	
Growth, Leadership and Demographics	11
Decision Making and Autonomy	12
Limited Budgets, Limited Capacity	15
Current Funding for Trans* and Intersex Groups	17
Barriers to Accessing Funding	19
Programming and Goals for Growth	22
How Donors Can Be Partners: Additional Support	24
Conclusion: Recommendations for Donors	26



Recent celebration of Transgender Day of Remembrance. *Photograph courtesy of Association of Transgenders in the Philippines*

INTRODUCTION

"I was shocked at how hard it is to raise funds for a trans" organization." $\$

"It's very hard for us to identify funding organizations with criteria that we meet ... intersex isn't on their list."

"We're just not on funders' radar."

"As we are "T" specific, it is difficult to access LGBT funding."

Over and over again, trans* and intersex groups tell a similar story about their efforts to secure funding. Beyond the usual challenges that any organization might face in raising money, trans* and intersex groups are particularly left adrift by the fact that few funders understand the nuances of their work or include trans* or intersex people in their giving priorities.

The authors of this report—Global Action for Trans* Equality (GATE) and American Jewish World Service (AJWS)—heard repeatedly about the difficulty of accessing funding from their grantees and the activists they partner with. Although the problem appeared universal, no data was available to support the claim, and so GATE and AJWS set out to survey trans* and intersex organizations around the world to map the current funding situation and to determine what changes in the philanthropic sector would be most helpful to strengthen these growing movements.

This report summarizes the findings of our survey of 340 trans* and intersex groups, conducted from July to September 2013.² It shows current data and themes in the funding of trans* and intersex groups and the challenges and obstacles experienced by these groups in accessing resources. It also highlights key differences in access to funding between groups that are led by trans* and intersex activists, and those that are not.

Our findings show clearly that groups led by trans* and intersex activists are under resourced—yet in the midst of this challenging funding context they are doing remarkably successful work to promote the rights and improve the lives of their constituents and communities. To emphasize their efficacy and potential, this report highlights examples of successful trans* and intersex organizing efforts around the world.

Human rights and development funders have tremendous opportunities to support trans* and intersex movements. This report aims to bridge the gap between the needs of these groups and existing funding practices by providing donors with knowledge, information and recommendations for effective support of trans* and intersex movements globally.

Justus Eisfeld Sarah Gunther Davey Shlasko

¹ All citations not otherwise attributed come from anonymous respondents of the survey or from qualitative interviews.

² A copy of the survey can be found on GATE's website: http://transactivists.org/funding-survey

METHODOLOGY

The statistical findings contained in this report result from a survey conducted in 2013 by GATE and AJWS with assistance from Strength in Numbers Consulting Group. The survey sample consists of self-identified trans* and intersex groups around the world.

Survey distribution: GATE and AJWS distributed the survey through an open call in English, Spanish and French. The survey was distributed to trans* and intersex groups that are known to GATE or that are grantees of AJWS or of other funders known to support such groups, as well as to other groups identified through online research. GATE and AJWS also shared the survey on listservs frequented by trans* and intersex activists, in open and closed Facebook groups and through personal contacts of the researchers.

The respondents: The final survey sample contains 340 respondents. Each respondent represents one trans* or intersex group. To reach this final sample, we removed respondents that did not answer enough survey questions for us to consider their responses complete. We also removed any duplicate responses.

Stories and quotes: To complement the survey data and highlight examples of successful trans* and intersex organizing, AJWS and GATE conducted interviews with nine groups and drew on information provided by four grantees. Quotations in the report stem from both the interviews and from open-ended questions in the survey.

Including intersex groups: We originally set out to investigate only the situation of trans* organizations, but as the survey was developed, GATE and AJWS realized it would be a missed opportunity not to include intersex groups as well. While there are many differences in the issues facing trans* and intersex people, both communities face an extremely large gap between need and access to funding. Many of the challenges for trans* groups in accessing funding are even more pronounced for intersex groups. Just as we believe that

TRANS* GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Transgender Equality Uganda (TEU)

In Kampala, Uganda, a small group of transwomen³ has come together to improve the health of their community. Transgender Equality Uganda (TEU) provides a safe place for transwomen to gather and access support and resources, including legal aid, medical care and health. TEU also intervenes to protect transwomen they hear of who may be in danger following an assault or arrest.

Beyond its successes connecting individuals with urgently needed resources, TEU has raised the profile of transwomen's concerns among allies in Uganda and internationally by participating in coalitions concerned with HIV prevention and treatment, sex workers' rights and LGBT rights.

TEU began receiving external funding in 2012. With access to funding, it has obtained a safe meeting place, received training for its staff in strategic planning and security measures, established regular programming, established an office, began holding regular meetings with its members, and provided transportation stipends for three members who help to run the organization. TEU's work is only beginning, and with additional support it aims to make Uganda a place where all transwomen can count on safety, respect, health care and a dignified livelihood.



Photograph by Evan Abramson

3 In these spotlights we use the terms provided by the group, which often carry local meaning not easily conveyed in English or outside of the locality of the group.

trans* issues need specific and dedicated attention, we believe that intersex issues need the same. Our hope is that both intersex and trans* activists will find this report useful.

Methodological limitations: We outline the limitations of our methodology in order to acknowledge them and to share our learning for future surveys on this topic:

- The survey was distributed in English, Spanish and French, so groups lacking fluency in any of those languages were not able to access it.
- We distributed the survey online, via networks of donors and activists, so groups that are not connected to these networks—or who have very poor Internet access—may not have received it or been able to complete it.
- The survey included some complex language on budgets and funders, so it may have been challenging for unfunded or under resourced groups to participate.
- Fewer than 5% of respondents appeared not to be groups working on trans* or intersex issues (based on their websites or the researchers' knowledge of their work). We left them in the respondent pool to avoid arbitrarily removing them.
- A key category of analysis was whether trans* and intersex groups were "self-led"—i.e. led by trans* and/or intersex people—yet this was difficult to assess. We determined whether a group was self-led by analyzing the self-reported sex and gender identities of the financial decision-makers of the organization; however, this presented three challenges: 1) identity terms are understood differently and overlap in varied ways across different contexts; 2) some respondents replied 'all' or 'most' to mutually exclusive identity categories (such as trans* and cisgender, intersex and non-intersex), making it difficult to interpret their data; and 3) the level of autonomy of a group is more complex than the identity of its financial decision-makers. For future studies, we recommend developing a more nuanced measurement for determining the identities of leaders and assessing whether groups are self-led.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Cisgender: People whose self-perception of their gender matches their sex assigned at birth.

Depathologization: The aim of challenging the cultural understandings and medical classifications that view being trans* or intersex as a disorder, a defect or an illness. Depathologization is the political goal of many trans* and intersex activists, who want the world to view trans* and intersex bodies and identities as examples of human diversity.

Gender variant: People whose gender expression varies from normative definitions of femininity or masculinity, regardless of their gender identity or sexual orientation. Some people use the more politicized terms "gender-nonconforming" or "gender queer."

Intersex: People who were born with chromosomes, gonads and/or genitals that vary from female and male standards. A former medical term, intersex has been reclaimed by intersex people as a personal and political identity. In certain local contexts, intersex people have also reclaimed the older term "hermaphrodite" (or, more recently, "herm") and the abbreviation "inter*."

LGB / LGBT / LGBTI / TI: Abbreviations in various configurations for the words lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans*/transgender and intersex. **MSM:** Abbreviation for men who have sex with men, regardless of whether they identify as gay.

Trans*: People whose gender identity or expression differs from the gender assigned at birth. Some trans* people identify and present themselves as either a man or a woman; others identify with a non-binary gender category. Trans* people describe themselves by many different terms, some of which are specific to local cultures, including *transgender, transsexual, fa'afafine, travesti, hijra, genderqueer* and *transpinoy*—to name just a few. Many global activists have started to use the abbreviation "trans*," with an asterisk, denoting a placeholder for the entire range of possible gender identities that fall under the broad definition of trans*.

Transition: Used in this report to describe the transition from one gender to another.

Transphobia / intersexphobia: Fear or rejection of people who are trans* or intersex, often expressed through social exclusion, stigma and violence.

Trans* woman: A person who is considered male at birth and who now identifies primarily as female.

Trans* man: A person who is considered female at birth and who now identifies primarily as male.

HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS AGAINST TRANS* AND INTERSEX PEOPLE

In every region of the world, trans* and intersex people face serious human rights violations. They are subject to violence, abuse and ridicule in all societies. Trans* and intersex people also face barriers in accessing education, livelihoods and health care—and these challenges are magnified in poor communities where access to these resources is a problem for the entire population.

Trans* and intersex people are targeted because they disrupt the dominant assumptions about sex and gender that are central to most cultural and institutional structures.¹ Those with 'atypical' body or gender presentations are especially vulnerable to violence and discrimination when this is visible or disclosed to others.

The following is a list of common human rights violations perpetrated against these communities:

Human Rights Violations Experienced by Trans* People

Discrimination: Discrimination in education and the workplace is a serious problem for many trans* people. For example, in several studies in Western Europe and the USA, unemployment for trans* people was 3-4 times higher than that of the general population, and many times higher for trans* people of color. In addition, a large number of trans* people in Global North countries described being forced to change jobs due to their trans* identity.^{II} Qualitative reports show that trans* communities around the world face higher rates of unemployment, underemployment and poverty. Especially in Global South countries, this is exacerbated by the fact that many trans* people have limited access to education and that many are ostracized by biological families that would have otherwise provided an economic safety net.^{III}

Violence: Many trans* people experience violence—including harassment, verbal abuse, physical attacks, sexual abuse, murder and suicide. Numerous reports have been written about violence faced by trans* people,^{iv} including murder,^v and all come to the same conclusion: trans* people around the world face an extraordinary amount of all forms of violence—much higher than the general population.

No Legal Status or Recognition: The majority of countries in the world make it difficult or do not allow trans* people to amend identity documents (such as birth certificates, passports and national ID cards) to reflect their gender identity. Without proper identity documentation, trans* people are denied their legal status and rights as citizens. Daily activities turn into major roadblocks: buying a cell phone contract, passing a police control post, crossing a border, voting in an election, accessing health care and finding employment all depend on having accurate documentation. Argentina is the only country in the world where official identity documents can be changed to reflect one's self-defined identity, without requiring any verification from a medical expert.⁴ In countries that allow changes after obtaining medical verification, the process is often combined with requirements such as sterilization, surgery, a mental health diagnosis or even psychiatric hospitalization. Many countries require divorce and some also loss of custody of children in order to officially change gender status.^{vi}

Lack of Access to Health Care: Trans* people have less access to health care than the general population, due to discrimination and harassment by providers, inability to pay, lack of insurance and a host of other socio-economic barriers. It is difficult for trans* people to find health care providers who respect their gender identity (e.g. by referring to their gender correctly) and who understand their particular health needs. vii Discrimination in health care settings discourages trans* people from seeking care when they need it, and

⁴ In some countries such as New Zealand, sex / gender details on a passport can be changed on this basis but verification by medical experts is required to amend a birth certificate.

TRANS* GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Transgender Equality Network Ireland (TENI)

Trans* people in Ireland face extreme stigma, discrimination and violence. Ireland is one of the few European countries where there is no process by which trans* people may change their legal gender, and there is very limited access to trans*inclusive health care, especially transition care.

Transgender Equality Network Ireland (TENI) seeks to address these gaps and enable trans* people in Ireland to live safe, healthy, full lives. TENI coordinates a network of peer support groups and educates medical providers, policy makers and the community through publications and sensitivity trainings. TENI is also advocating for new legislation on trans* rights in Ireland that it hopes will be the most inclusive such law so far in Europe.

Since its founding in 2005 as a volunteer-run organization, TENI has used a few key grants from Irish and international funders to grow into a



Photograph courtesy of TENI

thriving, staffed organization making an impact throughout the country. But as it grows, TENI is committed to staying true to its grassroots principles, continually looking to the community to set programming and advocacy priorities. To do so, it will need to secure more general funding or find funders whose priorities match those of TENI's community.

ignorance by providers and insurance professionals means that trans* people are regularly denied primary health care.

One of the most significant health care barriers for trans* people is lack of access to "gender affirming" treatment such as hormone treatment or surgery. These are unavailable to the vast majority of trans* people, even in rich countries with universal health care systems. This has a serious negative effect on the body image and sense of self-worth of trans* people, which is expressed in higher suicide rates,^{viii} much higher likeliness to be HIV positive^{ix} and worse overall mental health among those who have not undergone medical transition to their preferred gender.^x In a U.S. survey a staggering 41% of trans* people reported attempted suicide, compared to 1.6% of the general population.^{xi}

Discrimination in Gender-Segregated Services: Trans* people are discriminated against, harassed and abused in facilities where people are typically segregated by gender, including public restrooms, homeless shelters and prisons. Trans* people in prison face challenges related not only to gender segregation and violence, but also the lack of access to proper clinical care and medication—especially in relation to transition-related medical care.

Human Rights Violations Experienced by Intersex People

In a world that is organized around the gender binary of male and female, intersex people face serious consequences. Intersex people experience a wide range of human rights violations, including many of those mentioned above for trans* populations, as well as the following specific issues.

TRANS* GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Gender DynamiX (GDX), South Africa

Gender DynamiX (GDX) works to advance the human rights of trans* and gender nonconforming people in South Africa through a combination of advocacy, research, services and community outreach.

GDX advocates for enforcement of a South African law—the Alteration of Sex Description Act 49 of 2003—which allows trans* people to change the gender and name on their id without having surgery. It also works with police to try to stop violence against trans* people by instituting trans*-friendly policies and training officers to respect the rights of trans* people in public and in custody. GDX is a regional leader beyond South Africa, casting light on the plight of trans* individuals, organizations, activists and refugees, and facilitating networking and strategy sessions among trans* and intersex groups on the continent.

One of GDX's greatest challenges is doing so much with limited funding. The funding it receives is mostly directed to specific projects, which limits the group's ability to chart its own course to promoting the human rights of trans* people. With increased funding stability and support for general operations, it could be even more successful in nurturing an emerging movement for empowerment and inclusion in the region. **Medicalization:** In most countries of the world, intersex babies are subjected to non-consensual surgeries and other related procedures aimed to "normalize" the external appearance of their genitals.^{xii} These procedures are not justified by any medical need, and have long-lasting consequences such as genital insensitivity, sterility, chronic pain, and physical and psychological trauma.^{xiii} The medicalization of intersex bodies has recently reached new frontiers, extending before the moment of birth to include prenatal interventions. There is also growing evidence of the recommendation and practice of selective abortion to prevent intersex births.^{xiv}

The medicalization of intersex bodies violates intersex people's autonomy and bodily integrity. It also can violate the right to health, as clinical approaches to intersex bodies are so focused on genitals that they ignore other health needs of intersex people. Further, many national health systems and insurance companies do not cover the cost of follow up care or damage repair from earlier surgeries conducted on intersex people.

Access to Identity Documents: Intersex people who identify as a different sex than the one assigned to them at birth face similar challenges as trans* people when they attempt to amend identity documents^{xv}—and in some cases, their situation is worse. However, laws that permit trans* people to alter their gender on official documents may exclude intersex people because the law specifies a diagnosis or medical intervention that is specific to trans* people and doesn't apply to intersex people. Some countries

allow intersex people to amend their documents after having a physical examination, but this can cause additional psychological trauma by forcing them to recall previous experiences of medical violence.

Finally, access to clinical records, as well as to original birth certificates, is a challenge for many intersex people all around the world because doctors and others often hide or change records to avoid mention of an intersex condition and of any procedures (consensual or otherwise) that were intended to 'normalize' the infant. Activists report a disproportionate amount of fraud, destruction of or tampering with evidence.

Violence and Infanticide: In some cultures, intersex people and their families face extreme social rejection and violence, including infanticide. Activists in Uganda and South Africa report the possibility that parents murder intersex babies out of fear for their own safety if they are discovered to be violating taboos by raising an intersex child.^{xvi}

Key Milestones in Trans* and Intersex organizing

Throughout history, there have been people with bodies and identities that are what we think of today as 'trans' and 'intersex.' In many cultures, specific roles have existed for centuries, and even millennia, for gender variant people. South Asia, for example, has a rich history of *hijra* communities—people with identities similar to Western trans* women, feminine men and some intersex people—that play important religious and cultural roles.

But in most cultures, the types of discrimination and violence listed in the previous section have been far too common for trans* and intersex people. In England, for example, cross-dressing was a crime—one that lives on in many colonial-era laws still on the books in countries around the world.

The first organized movement for the rights of people who today could be considered trans* emerged in Europe at the end of the 19th century, when those people started working with doctors to define their experiences as a health issue instead of a criminal one.^{xv} By the late 1960s, the medical establishment had created psychiatric diagnoses for the experiences of trans* people; and yet, they were still subject to persecution, stigma and discrimination. Trans* organizing emerged to resist violence and seek self-determination for individuals and communities.

GROUP SPOTLIGHT: TransInterQueer (TrIQ), Germany

Founded in 2006, TrIQ is a membership-based grassroots organization whose aim is freedom for all trans*, intersex and queer people to participate fully in every aspect of society and to be respected and welcomed rather than viewed as sick or strange.

Like many trans* and intersex organizations, TrIQ balances direct services with advocacy. Two parttime staff members coordinate dozens of events monthly, where members gather for support, resources, cultural activities and learning. TrIQ has also been active in media advocacy and produced a guide for journalists on how to report stories about trans* people respectfully. TrIQ members co-authored a government report on trans* people in the workforce, and are working to build support for revising Germany's gender recognition law so that it respects the self-determination and privacy of trans* people. TrIQ collaborates with several other European trans* organizations to share strategies, skills and resources across the continent.

TrIQ is unique in Europe in that it has been a collaborative effort of trans* and intersex organizing from the beginning. But although its work is unified, its success at attracting funders has not been balanced. The group has greater difficulty securing funding to support its intersex-related work than its trans* work because funders do not know enough about intersex issues to recognize them as related to their funding priorities.



Photograph courtesy of TrIQ

Today's trans* movements include international,⁵ regional⁶ and independent groups and activists in almost every country.⁷ Many of these groups organized in response to the HIV epidemic in the 1980s, which hit trans* communities hard.^{xvi} Today trans* movements support trans* people's human rights and work to overturn the classification of gender identity disorder as a psychological illness. The priorities of trans* activists include stopping transphobia in institutions and in society; promoting legal recognition for trans* people; and securing access to health care that supports trans* people's preferred gender identities and physiology.^{xix}

Intersex activism started in the early 1990s when intersex adults began to meet and organize to resist the pathologization of intersex bodies, particularly the common medical practice of cutting the genitals of intersex infants and children—without the consent of the individual, and regularly also without the informed consent of parents—in order to make them conform to female and male body standards.^{xx} After 2006, there was a surge in intersex activism caused by the emergence of a new medical terminology ("disorders of sex development") that serves to further stigmatize intersex people as having a defect.^{xxi} Today there is an international intersex network with presence in multiple countries and regions⁸ and many independent intersex groups and activists working around the world. Intersex activists continue to work to bring an end to practices that mutilate or seek to 'normalize' intersex people, such as genital surgeries, psychological therapy and other medically unnecessary treatments.^{xxii}

In some places, trans* and intersex activism are independent and separate, while in other contexts, they are more intertwined. In South Asia, for example, both trans* and intersex people may be part of hijra communities. In East and Southern Africa, where the movements emerged and developed together, trans* and intersex activists are organizing around shared agendas and goals.

GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Aneka & Sangama, Karnataka, India

Aneka supports grassroots mobilization of sex workers and sexual minorities, including trans* men and trans* women, *hijras, jogappas, kothi* and people of other gender categories beyond the man/woman binary.

A cornerstone of Aneka's work is a program that trains and supports community leaders to conduct research projects that address problems in their communities. The community leaders are involved in the entire process—from selecting a topic to designing the study, conducting the research and analyzing the data.^{xxviii} One recent project was led by four trans* community members (one *jogappa*, two *hijras* and one *kothi*), and will culminate in the forthcoming report, "Our Health, Our Lives, Our Futures." The report analyzes HIV prevention programs through the eyes of transgender people who have experienced them. Aneka hopes the report will inform the development of better services and empower the communities that participated to advocate more effectively for their rights.

Aneka works closely with its sister agency in India, Sangama, which focuses on advocating for better treatment of sex workers by governments and media representatives. Together Aneka and Sangama, along with other groups, have successfully brought the concerns of sex workers and sexual minorities to the attention of decision makers.

⁵ Such as GATE, International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association Trans Secretariat and Transgender Europe's Transrespect versus Transphobia project.

⁶ Such as the Asia Pacific Transgender Network, the Pacific Sexual Diversity Network, Transgender Europe, Transitioning Africa and REDLACTRANS.

⁷ There are many remaining gaps, though: some groups only represent a segment of the trans* community (for example, only people in the trans* feminine or trans* masculine spectrum), and most of the regional groups do not have active members in all countries covered.

⁸ Organisation Intersex International – OII, additionally ILGA provides meeting spaces through the Intersex Forum.

Whether separate or part of a joint movement, both trans* and intersex activism have complex relationships with lesbian, gay and bisexual (LGB) activism. Sometimes they are grouped together as 'LGBTI.' While this grouping has some advantages, in many places gay and lesbian groups fail to prioritize or even acknowledge the specific needs of trans* and intersex communities, such as lack of legal recognition of their gender, forced sterilization, classification as a medical disease and genital mutilation. Many trans* and intersex respondents to our survey felt that their communities' issues are different enough that the disadvantages of organizing under the LGBTI umbrella often outweigh the advantages.

INTERSEX GROUP SPOTLIGHT: OII Australia

Australia has made significant advances in respecting the human rights of intersex people, and this is largely thanks to the advocacy of OII Australia—the Australian affiliate of Organization Intersex International. The group was instrumental in securing the passage of the groundbreaking national anti-discrimination law that recognizes "intersex status" and prohibits discrimination against intersex people; and provided guidance on new federal gender identity regulations that ensure that intersex and other people may choose to identify themselves with a third 'X' gender marker. On top of its successful advocacy program, OII Australia is a go-to resource for information about intersex issues throughout the country and internationally.

Remarkably, OII Australia accomplishes all this with no paid staff, relying almost exclusively on the contributions of volunteer members. If the group could employ just two or three staff members, imagine what it could achieve. OII Australia hopes to provide peer support for intersex adults and families of intersex children, conduct robust policy development at the national and state levels, and provide training and educational materials to improve the understanding of intersex issues among medical providers and the broader community, in Australia and beyond.

THE CURRENT FUNDING LANDSCAPE FOR TRANS* AND INTERSEX WORK

While foundation funding for LGBTI groups and issues has grown dramatically in the past ten years,^{xxiii} this funding has not sufficiently reached trans* and intersex communities. This is largely because LGBTI movements have historically failed to address issues of priority to trans* and intersex people. The "T" and the "I" are often included in LGBTI organizations in name only, with little impact on the organizations' programs, priorities or leadership.^{xxiv} While some LGBTI organizations make genuine efforts to include trans* and intersex people.

Only a small number of private funders (including Open Society Foundations and the Arcus Foundation), public foundations (such as Mama Cash, American Jewish World Service and the Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice) and governments (including the Netherlands, the United States and Scotland) support trans* activism. Even fewer funders support intersex groups.

"The LGB groups that gain the funding for LGBTI tend to ignore the T/I, or do not know enough about T/I to do constructive work." —SURVEY RESPONDENT

The good news is that there are clear and exciting opportunities for funders to support trans* and intersex work.

There is a diverse and vibrant movement of trans* and intersex-led groups doing critical and groundbreaking work—and they could be accomplishing so much more with additional funding.

Trans* and intersex groups are organizing at every level. Local and national groups are pressing for— and sometimes winning—laws to protect gender variant children from discrimination in schools. They are providing vital health information to their members and helping them access health service providers that respectfully meet the needs of trans* and intersex people. They are providing vocational training and helping people pursue education and find jobs. They are running arts and cultural programs that aim to change social norms about gender identity and body diversity, and they are fighting for trans* and intersex people's rights to change their legal gender without overly burdensome requirements that are prohibitive for the vast majority of sex and gender variant people around the world. Finally, they are providing spaces for trans* and intersex people to meet, organize, and build community, leadership and power so they can work to transform their own circumstances.

On a global scale, international and regional groups are working to bring about legal and policy reform by engaging in dialogue with decision-makers at the United Nations, World Health Organization, the International Olympic Committee and other international and regional bodies. They are also providing opportunities for local trans* and intersex groups to network with others in their communities and around the world, enabling groups to share strategies across borders.

TRANS GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Comunidad de Trans-Travestis Trabajadoras Sexuales Dominicana (COTRAVETD), Dominican Republic

Comunidad de Trans-Travestis Trabajadoras Sexuales Dominicana (COTRAVETD) is an organization of trans* women and *travesti* sex workers that provides health information and services and trains medical providers, journalists, and decision makers about trans rights.

COTRAVETD began as a program of Movimiento de Mujeres Unidas (MODEMU), a sex workers organization comprised of mostly cisgender women. As it became clear that MODEMU's trans* members faced specific challenges, COTRAVETD gradually built its capacity until it could launch as an independent organization. Today it is a national leader for trans* rights, working in partnership with MODEMU and other advocacy groups.

COTRAVETD trains and empowers members of its community to become effective advocates for trans rights. Its current advocacy efforts are ensuring that trans people are part of national dialogues taking place in the Dominican Republic on HIV prevention and the rights of LGBT people and sex workers. The organization plans to some day create a network of medical and community centers for trans people throughout the Dominican Republic and Haiti. As it works to develop leadership in the trans* community it is laying the groundwork to make that dream a reality.

SURVEY RESULTS

Based on the responses of 340 trans* and intersex groups around the world, our findings show a diverse and growing movement whose impact is currently limited by a lack of access to funds and resources. At the same time, the survey reveals tremendous potential. **Funders have the ability to dramatically multiply the impact of trans* and intersex groups by providing funds and support and making the human rights of this community a significant priority in their giving strategies.**

GROWTH, REACH AND DEMOGRAPHICS

Trans* and intersex movements are young, diverse and growing rapidly worldwide.

Based on the founding dates of groups surveyed, the total number of trans* and intersex groups has grown almost exponentially in the last decade. The majority were founded after 2005 and almost a third (29%, $n=331^9$) were founded in the three years prior to the survey.¹⁰



Number of New Groups Founded, 1985-2013, by Leadership Demographics

Trans* and intersex groups exist in every region of the world.

Trans* and intersex activists are organizing all across the globe. The graph below shows the number of groups in different regions. In addition, there are sub-regional patterns; for example, there are many more groups in Eastern Africa than in Southern or Western Africa. Western Europe has more organizations than Eastern Europe.¹¹

⁹ n is used to note the total number of valid responses for that question.

¹⁰ As described above, while the formal organization of trans* and intersex groups is recent, it is important to note that many of these groups build on long cultural histories of trans* and intersex people as well as less formal organizing.

¹¹ This sample is not completely representative, due to limitations in the survey methodology. For example, there were no respondents from Brazil, likely because the survey was not available in Portuguese. The fact that only two groups responded from Mainland China and Taiwan does not adequately represent the number of trans* and intersex groups in those countries.

Number of Responding Groups per World Region



Most trans* and intersex groups work locally, with a few global and regional groups.

Groups surveyed work primarily within their home countries, with the greatest number working at the local level (38%), national level (34%) and provincial/state level (20%). In the sample there are 22 groups stating they work regionally (7%) and six stating they work globally (2%) (n=338).

Trans* and intersex people hold multiple identities.

Within the trans* and intersex communities served by respondents, there are many populations that are of interest to funders. For example half of the groups reported that their constituents are mostly or all from low-income backgrounds (51%, n=298). A quarter of the groups reported that their constituents are mostly or all people living with HIV (25%, n=313). A third described their constituencies as mostly or all sex workers (31%, n=303).

We also asked groups about the gender identity of their constituents. Half of groups described their constituents as mostly or all trans* women (50%, n=317), a third said their constituents are mostly or all trans* men (36%, n=310), a third identified most or all of their constituents with a local term (29%, n=247), a quarter said that most or all of their constituents identify as neither male nor female (25%, n=301) and 14% said their constituents are mostly or all intersex people (n=289).¹²

DECISION MAKING AND AUTONOMY

Many trans* and intersex groups are led by trans and intersex people, but a surprising number are not.

We found that some groups surveyed are led by trans* and intersex people ("self-led") and others are not. This difference provides us with insight into the extent to which trans* and intersex people are able to make important decisions about their work and lead their own organizing efforts.¹³ Respondents to the survey fall into the following categories:

¹² Multiple answers were possible, which explains some overlap. Not all groups answered for each identity category, which is whyat there are varying total valid numbers (n).

¹³ We determined whether or not a group is self-led by asking whether the persons making financial decisions for the organization are trans* or intersex identified. We chose financial decision-making as the indicator of leadership because the extent to which trans* or intersex people participate in financial decision-making is a strong indicator of their power to represent their own needs, interests and voices within an organization and with funders.

- **198 are 'self-led groups'**—groups whose important financial decisions are made entirely or mostly by intersex people and/or trans* people. Of these self-led groups:

 - 148 are 'trans*-led'—groups whose important financial decisions are made entirely or mostly by trans* people.
 - **10 are 'intersex-led'**—groups whose important financial decisions are made entirely or mostly by intersex people.
 - **40 are 'other self-led'**—groups whose leadership is not clearly either trans* or intersex, but which does not contain strong representation of cisgender or non-intersex people.
- 32 are 'not self-led groups'—groups whose important financial decisions are made entirely or mostly by people who are neither trans* nor intersex.
- **110 groups** did not provide sufficient or clear enough data on the gender identities of their key financial decision-makers to be categorized as self-led or not self-led.

The majority of groups in the survey are self-led (63%, n=340). There are some notable regional differences. Groups in the Caribbean, Central and South America (73%, n=51) and Asia (65%, n=54) tend to be more self-led than groups in North America (53%, n=100), the Pacific, Australia and New Zealand (53%, n=15) and Middle East and North Africa (40%, n=5).

INTERSEX GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Advocates for Informed Choice (AIC), USA

Surgical intervention is commonplace for intersex infants in the U.S.—as in many places of the world—even though it is rarely necessary and often harmful. Advocates for Informed Choice (AIC) works to protect infants with intersex conditions from unnecessary, nonconsensual medical procedures.

AIC works to advance intersex rights through strategic legal action and community education. It challenges cases of human rights violations in court, educates medical and legal professionals about the rights of intersex people, brings together medical providers and intersex adults in dialogue about the harms done by unnecessary surgeries, and supports intersex youth leadership.

Currently AIC is part of a federal court case arguing that an intersex child's constitutional rights were violated when he received unnecessary surgery as a toddler in the care of the state. This case has raised awareness of intersex issues in mainstream media, and if it's successful, it will be a landmark legal victory for intersex rights. AIC has also provided expert



Photograph courtesty of AIC

testimony for the UN Human Rights Commission and the World Health Organization.

AIC sees many possibilities for alliances between the intersex movement and organizations focused on reproductive rights, children's rights, trans* and LGB issues and many others. As it builds its reach and capacity, AIC hopes to forge stronger connections with other movements and with intersex groups in other countries, in order to strengthen the fight for everyone's access to safe, respectful and consensual healthcare.

Groups want to hire from within their own communities.

Respondents to the survey indicated that their staff is fairly diverse in terms of gender identity. Many groups have staff comprised of mostly trans* or intersex people, with only a few cisgender or nonintersex staff. However, a full quarter of groups have staff that are all or most cisgender or non-intersex (n=116).

A key theme that surfaced during the research process is that trans* groups want to hire from trans* communities, but because trans* people have poor access to educational and professional opportunities, it is sometimes difficult to find trans* candidates who have the specific professional skills or qualifications a group may need. Bringing on staff from the community is essential, but may require additional resources for staff development. One leader we interviewed underscored: "We should aspire to be trans* led... Unfortunately there aren't yet a lot of trans* people who've had the privilege to get the training and experience." "It takes additional resources to bring staff on board who have the same barriers your target population will have. You cannot expect a person that was unemployed before for most of his or her life to know how to write reports... We do in-house training, but... this is the same person who's on call for crisis intervention. Every hour we spend in training is an hour we could be spending with a community member in need or actually delivering outcomes." -SURVEY RESPONDENT

Looking at other factors, 17% of staffed groups say that most or all of their staff are people living with HIV/AIDS (n=139). A quarter of staffed groups say that most or all of their staff are sex workers (25%, n=130). Approximately one in five groups are staffed mostly or entirely with people who were previously unemployed (22.6%, n=124); and over half of the groups have most or all staff (54.8%, n=135) coming from a low-income background.

Half of trans* and intersex groups are not independent organizations, constraining their ability to make important decisions about their work.

Nearly half of the trans* and intersex groups that responded to the survey are not independent organizations, but rather, are programs of larger organizations with broader mandates beyond trans* and/or intersex work (45%, n=338). Trans* and intersex groups are least likely to be independent in Middle East and North Africa (n=5), where 4 out of 5 groups operate within a broader organization, followed by 65% in Sub-Saharan Africa (n=54) and 58% in Asia (n=52).



2012 Budget (n=324) and 2013 Budget (n=338) of Groups

This has significant implications for the ability of trans* and intersex activists to make decisions about their own work. Only a quarter (26%) of these groups make most or all of their own financial decisions. Close to a third (32%) report that they share financial decision-making and a full 42% report that they have little or no say in financial decisions about their work (n=151). This means that a large number of trans* and intersex activists are not able to use their knowledge of their communities' needs and priorities to make decisions about how the resources dedicated to them are spent.

Trans* and intersex groups that are part of broader organizations are somewhat more involved in decisionmaking about the content of their work, however. About a third (31%) are mostly or fully autonomous in this regard; just over a third (39%) share decision-making with the larger organization; and just less than a third (30%) have little or no say (n=151).

While it can sometimes be advantageous to work inside larger organizations—for example, groups can access support, mentorship or safety—it is clear that it has implications for trans* and intersex activists' ability to make decisions about their work.

TRANS* GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Transgender Law Center (TLC), California, USA

Transgender Law Center (TLC) works to change law, policy, and attitudes so that all people can be themselves and lead lives free of discrimination and violence.

TLC has achieved many landmark victories for trans* rights in California—from protecting trans* students in public schools, to outlawing discrimination in housing and employment, easing the requirements for changing one's legal gender, and ending the exclusion of trans* people from health insurance policies. At the national level, TLC won a ruling from the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission establishing that Federal law protects trans* people against sex discrimination, and has also worked to ensure the inclusion of trans* people in the Affordable Care Act. Because these victories are highly contested by right-wing groups, TLC will fight to maintain this legislation in the face of hateful counter-campaigns.

Moving forward, TLC is working with immigrant rights groups to protect trans* immigrants, and is advocating for trans*-inclusive healthcare across the U.S. TLC also plans to increase its collaboration with activists and other trans* groups in the U.S. and in other countries in order to build and strengthen a global movement for trans* equality.

LIMITED BUDGETS, LIMITED CAPACITY

Trans* and intersex groups operate with meager budgets.

Across the board, trans* and intersex groups operate on scarce resources. More than half (54%) of groups have a current annual budget of less than \$10,000. Nearly all groups (95%) have budgets of less than \$250,000 a year (n=338). With such small budgets, trans* and intersex groups are deeply constrained in their ability to address the serious human rights violations outlined at the beginning of this report.

In this context, trans* and intersex groups that grow and win significant public victories quickly stand out. The most stable and well-resourced of the trans* and intersex-led groups come to be seen as cornerstones of the movement, and other groups often turn to them seeking capacity building assistance, fiscal sponsorship and mentorship. Yet even the largest of the trans* and intersex-led groups are still quite small, and maintaining their own work and funding while supporting smaller and newer groups can be a strain.

However, in a promising sign of growth, many organizations saw budgets increase over last year.



Groups led by trans* and intersex people have smaller budgets and less savings than those that are not self-led.

There are stark differences in the budget sizes of groups led by trans* or intersex people and groups that are not. Intersex-led groups have a median annual budget of \$0 - \$5,000. Trans*-led groups have a median annual budget of \$5,000 - \$10,000. In sharp contrast, groups that are not led by trans* or intersex people have a median annual budget of \$20,000 - \$50,000 for their trans*/intersex work.

The groups surveyed do not have significant financial stability. While non-profit industry standard is for organizations to have 3-6 months' expenses in reserves, 68% of groups working on trans* and intersex issues have no reserves or savings at all (n=339). Of the 81 groups that do have savings, a quarter (24%) could exist on them for only two months and just over half (57%) could last for six months. As with budget size, the savings picture is worse for trans*- and intersex-led groups: 90% of intersex-led groups and 72% of trans*-led groups have no savings, compared to 47% of not self-led groups.

Budget, Savings, and Staff by Leadership Demographics



Trans* and intersex groups are severely under-staffed.

More than half of the groups surveyed have no fulltime staff (55%, n=319) and half of the groups have no staff at all (49% n=340). Of the groups that have fulltime staff members, over half (54%) have 4 or fewer, and 80% have 10 or fewer (n=145).

A much smaller proportion of trans*- and intersexled groups (46%, n=198) have paid staff, compared to groups that are not self-led (84%, n=32). Clearly, trans* and intersex groups do not have sufficient staff capacity to carry out their critical work.

Groups with Full-Time Staff Members (n=319)



CURRENT FUNDING FOR TRANS* AND INTERSEX GROUPS

Trans* and intersex groups are severely under-funded.

Only half of the groups surveyed receive external funding for their trans*/intersex work (50%, n=333). More than half of those who do not have funding have tried to get it in the past but have not succeeded (56%, n=133).

Trans*- and intersex-led groups have significantly less access to funding than those that are not self-led.

The composition of groups' leadership has an influence on their abilities to obtain funding. While 59% of groups not led by trans* or intersex people receive external funding (n=32), only 50% of intersex groups (n=10) and 54% of trans*-led groups do (n=145).

The most common funding sources for groups are foundations, donations and community fundraisers.

The most common sources of income for groups are foundations, donations from individuals or businesses, and community fundraisers. Least common are governments and international organizations. Again, the composition of a group's leadership is a significant factor in their access to particular types of donors. For most types of donors—especially foundations—groups that are not self-led have more access than groups that are. Intersex-led groups have the least access to funders across the board.



2013 Funding Sources for Groups (n=335) Percentage of Groups that Received Funding from These Sources

2013 Funding Sources by Leadership Demographics



There are some key regional differences in groups' access to different types of donors:

- Foundation grants reach half of groups in Eastern Europe (56%, n=18), a third of groups in Latin America and the Caribbean (32%, n=50), a third of groups in Sub-Saharan Africa (n=54), a third of groups in Asia (30%, n=52) and a quarter of groups in North America (26%, n=99). But foundations are a less common source in the Pacific (13%, n=15), Western Europe (18%, n=44) and the Middle East and North Africa (0%, n=5).
- In Sub-Saharan Africa, the region most affected by HIV/AIDS, there is a notably low level of funding for trans* and intersex groups in Sub-Saharan Africa from international organizations such as the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria and the United Nations (11%, n=54).
- National governments play the largest role for groups in Western Europe (27%, n=44). State/provincial governments also play a role in Western Europe (23%, n=44), as well as in Asia (15%, n=52), North America (12%, n=99), and the Pacific (13%, n=15).

For many groups, registration is an important factor in accessing funds.

Many funding sources are only available to organizations that are legally registered in their countries. The majority of groups surveyed are registered (67%, n=327) and this has had a positive impact on their ability to access funds. Registration and budget size are linked: registered groups have larger budgets than unregistered groups. Registered organizations have a median budget size of \$10,000 - \$20,000 (n=221), while groups not registered or whose status was not known have a median budget size of \$0 - \$5,000 (n=106).

HIV/AIDS funding is a major source of resources for trans* groups. This funding is needed but can also be counterproductive.

More than half (56%) of groups with external funding receive at least some funding for HIV/AIDS-related work, including a little more than a quarter (28%) of groups that receive most or all of their funding for this purpose (n=166). None of the intersex-led groups received any funding for HIV/AIDS work, though some of the ten intersexled groups do work in this area.

There are notable geographic distinctions in the distribution of funding for trans*/intersex and HIV issues. While less than 30% of funded groups in Europe (n=42) and the Pacific (n=7) receive any HIV/AIDS funding, in Sub-Saharan Africa (n=24), Asia (n=27) and LAC (n=24) such funding is vital, with around 40% of funded groups from these regions indicating that most or all of their funding is dedicated to HIV/ AIDS work.

HIV/AIDS-related funding is important for trans* groups. However, groups report that HIV/AIDS funding can lead to increased stigma if the only trans* work being done is HIV/AIDS-related. In some countries, trans* people only have access to dedicated HIV services, but not to the broader healthcare system. Further, HIV funding often targets trans* women as a subset of men who have sex with men (MSM), conflating

INTERSEX GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Support Initiative for People with Congenital Disorder (SIPD), Uganda

In Uganda, most infants born with intersex conditions receive no medical assessment. Some are killed soon after birth, and others are hidden out of shame and fear. For the few families who can afford medical care, the interventions, like in other parts of the world, are usually harmful and unnecessary. Intersex teens and adults sometimes need follow-up care, such as hormone replacement therapy, which is often unavailable or impossible to afford. Many intersex people are ostracized, expelled from school and ejected from housing.

Support Initiative for People with Congenital Disorder (SIPD) works to protect the human rights of intersex children and adults born into this challenging context. It works within communities to provide information, counseling and referrals intersex adults and parents of intersex children. It also documents abuses and educates the public and officials through media outreach, awareness trainings and advocacy. SIPD's documentary, "My Secret Life." has been screened at health conferences, and the organization will release a new film on intersex children in schools in the coming year.



Photograph courtesy of SIPD

gender identity with sexual behavior and failing to respect trans* women's gender identity; this means that other trans* people do not receive support from HIV funding streams, which often drives wedges in communities along the lines of sex and gender.

BARRIERS TO ACCESSING FUNDING

Groups working on trans* and intersex issues described the following barriers in accessing funding and made recommendations for funders seeking to support the trans* and intersex community:

Groups do not know where to look for funding or how to make contact with donors.

By far the most common request from survey respondents is for donors to publicly state that they are willing to support trans* and intersex groups and to do active outreach to identify potential recipients. One respondent asked that funders "Let us know on their websites that they support our groups and would consider funding them." Another asked that funders explicitly name trans* and intersex people as target groups. Many respondents suggested more active outreach to trans* and intersex groups, especially small grassroots groups: "In our country there are large organizations or activists who already have international recognition and are receiving funding, but they are not the only ones that work on the topic."

Application procedures are too complicated and surpass the capacity of groups.

Many groups reported that their volunteers and staff are unable to fill out complicated funding applications. often in languages that they do not speak. Lack of capacity to apply for grants (including time, language fluency and education) is a significant constraint to securing funding. One group said, "We need to get the requirements of their funding to be reduced ... because many trans and intersex people ... do not graduate from college or even high school following the rejection and abandonment of their family and community."

Many groups would like to have help with preparing proposals for funding, and some suggested that funders should take the time to help them write grant applications and guide them through the process. One

GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Insight, Ukraine

In Ukraine, trans* people who seek to legally or medically transition face inhumane obstacles, including the requirement that they be surgically sterilized and hospitalized for one month in a locked psychiatric ward. Insight, a group working for the rights of LBTI people, has brought international attention to this problem by submitting a shadow report to the UN Human Rights Committee documenting this and other human rights violations against LGBTQI people. After the European Council denounced the sterilization requirement, Insight leaders were able to arrange a meeting with policy makers to discuss international standards of trans* health care.

In addition to its advocacy work, Insight also runs an information and resource hotline. Many trans* people are isolated and do not have access to unbiased information about trans* issues. Employment discrimination is pervasive; most of the trans* people who call Insight for support are unemployed and many are homeless. Insight dreams of opening a community center that could provide shelter, employment assistance, health resources and serve as a home base for trans* activism. With funding for this project, Insight could launch even stronger advocacy campaigns and dramatically increase the impact of the Ukrainian trans* rights movement.

group suggested that funders "allow for first-time applicants to call and have someone work with them on the application." Groups would also like to get more feedback on unsuccessful funding applications, so that they can learn from the experience to improve future proposals.

Another related challenge named by groups is their capacity to manage grants once they are received.

Donor priorities do not match groups' needs.

Another often-mentioned problem is the difficulty of matching funders' priorities with needs prioritized by groups. In many cases, groups are forced to change their own priorities in order to secure funding. "Be aware of power dynamics between funders and grantees," noted one group. "Some grantee organizations will agree to whatever the funder wants because they feel that they're unable to challenge the funder or they will lose funding. This is a big problem as it means that the priorities of community

"Simplify application" procedures and provide flexibility in use of funds, including core funding." -SURVEY RESPONDENT

members are considered less important than funders' priorities."

One of the most frequently cited obstacles is that many grants available to trans* communities are restricted to HIV-programming, and are not available to intersex groups. One respondent put it this way: "Most funding ... is related to HIV but there are many health issues affecting trans and intersex people which are not necessarily related to HIV. This creates a tricky situation because many groups will simply create a link to HIV work in their programs just to be able to access some funding. This is very detrimental to organizing and sustainable change if we are conducting the wrong activities simply to target funding."

Other programming issues named were the focus on short-term funding for projects and the lack of attention to priority concerns for many trans* and intersex people, such as social services and transition-related health care.

Several groups urged donors especially governments—to provide more flexible, long-term funding that will enable them to flourish. One group said, "Governments need to understand the work we're doing is usually pioneering, with few precedents and not a lot of evidence on which to base programs, so guidelines need to be very flexible."



Photograph by Stefanie Rubin

TRANS* GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Asociacion Nicaraguense de Transgeneras (ANIT), Nicaragua

Asociacion Nicaraguense de Transgeneras (ANIT) was founded in 2008 to defend and promote the rights of trans women. A cornerstone of ANIT's organizing strategy is a program that supports trans community members who wish to make a complaint when their rights have been violated. ANIT helps them to articulate their claims and accompanies them as they bring their claims forward through the appropriate channels within the police, school and healthcare systems. In addition to helping individuals assert their rights and seek remedies, this program makes abuses against trans people visible to decision makers and helps ANIT members build their skills in advocating within public systems. The organization is currently developing a database to track and document complaints, which will provide valuable evidence for future advocacy work.

ANIT's work is holistic, with its advocacy, legal support and leadership development all working toward the same goal of realizing the human rights of Nicaraguan trans* people.

From another: "Ensure our long-term survival. Governments and other donors provide money, but only for a while and with many conditions."

Funding goes to groups supporting the gay and lesbian community or men who have sex with men and does not reach trans* and intersex groups.

In an open-ended question about issues with funders, over 30 trans* and intersex groups expressed frustration that funding does not reach them and instead goes to LGB groups, MSM groups or AIDS service organizations. These organizations often have no trans* or intersex people in decision-making

positions and no interest in actively pursuing an agenda that is supported by trans* and intersex communities, for example through specific programming.

One respondent reported a "lack of a sense of urgency by LGB organizations, for devoting any of 'their' funds to assist trans organizations." Another said: "the money goes to [organizations with] professional grant writers ... The biggest problem is that trans people mostly are excluded from education, very few have degrees, very few know how to talk to decision makers." "Most of the funds come through the MSM network and trans groups are not properly consulted in preparing the proposal and trans groups do not know how much money they will get when the proposal is accepted," wrote one respondent.

"... grantees who 'add the T' or 'add the I' without specifically funding the issues prioritized by our communities are actually sucking money out of the communities – donors assume we are receiving funding when we aren't." –SURVEY RESPONDENT

Governments do not fund trans* and intersex issues.

71% of groups that have sought external funding believe their national governments have no interest in providing support (n=217). According to respondents, government funding—whether from state or provincial governments, national governments or foreign governments—is the least likely source of funding for trans* issues overall.

Groups are ineligible for funding because of their location or constituency.

Groups in rural areas, in francophone and other non-English-speaking countries, and in high-income countries report ineligibility for funding. Aside from location, trans* men groups reported problems with ineligibility, most likely because HIV-focused funders do not perceive them as a key affected population.

Donors may not understand trans* or intersex issues.

Groups reported that many donors lack knowledge about trans* and intersex issues. For this reason, many groups find that they have to educate potential donors prior to asking for funding.

Lack of data may deter donors from funding trans* or intersex groups.

Lack of data on the number of trans* or intersex people in society appears to be a barrier for some donors, who may believe that the problem is not 'big enough'. Some donors also require evidence on the existence of violations faced by groups—and since so little documentation of these violations has been done by governments or reputable institutions, groups are unable to meet the requirements for funding. One group shared, "In the absence of any studies on Inter / Herma, we could not justify the needs of this population [to funders]."

PROGRAMMING AND GOALS FOR GROWTH

Most groups focus on advocacy and attitude change.

The vast majority of trans* and intersex groups work on two main issues: changing attitudes in society toward trans* and intersex people (86%, n=320) and advocating for laws and policies that respect and promote the human rights of trans* and intersex people (79%, n=315).

Content of Current Work (n=340)



Groups want to expand to provide direct services.

Although these two goals are paramount, many groups expressed the desire to expand to provide direct services to trans* and intersex communities. 35% of all groups, including 56% of intersex-led groups, want to provide social services and 31% want to provide health care. These are not issues that many of the current funders for trans* and intersex issues usually support, but they reflect the needs of communities. Safety and anti-violence work, arts and culture, and patients' rights advocacy are also high on groups' priority lists.

For many trans* and intersex groups it is impossible to fully separate advocacy work from service provision. In the absence of other organizations available to meet pressing community needs, a group's ability to support its members and constituents in accessing services can help create the baseline of stability needed to sustain the group's advocacy. This applies to leaders of groups, as well. In order to build strong and effective movements, access to services—including psychosocial support—is crucial, given the systemic trauma, violence and exclusion from society that trans* and intersex people face.

Groups want to provide health care as a vehicle for strengthening movements overall.

Groups report that it is next to impossible to find funding for gender transition or other health-related costs, which is a high priority for their members. This is particularly crucial for grassroots groups working to build a base for sustainable activism. Groups struggle when members are vulnerable and frequently in crisis. Several groups mentioned how one member's health crisis had a significant impact on the other members and on the organization's work. Constituents or members who lack a baseline of stability in terms of basic health and livelihood will reap less benefit from programming and will be able to put less energy into advocacy activities. Funders should look for ways to support groups to meet these needs.

In addition to these top priorities, groups are also interested in increasing outreach and education, providing counseling and psychosocial support, offering capacity building and mentoring, providing legal services and creating social spaces.

Direct HIV work is notably a lower priority for most groups, compared to other issues. However, activists' top priorities—such as changing attitudes and decreasing stigma—are key to addressing the HIV epidemic in many trans* communities.^{xxvii} Funders focused on HIV/AIDS should provide support for trans* groups to address the root causes of stigma and discrimination as a long-term strategy to fight HIV and improve health.

The composition of leadership affects groups' priorities.

There are a few key differences in programming of groups that are led by trans* people, intersex people and others. Intersex-led groups, for example, list social services, safety and the provision of support groups as very high priorities, but health care is notably absent from their priority lists while it is high on the lists of trans* groups. Funders should be as flexible as possible in their funding, allowing trans* and intersex groups to identify and address the particular needs of their communities.

"Be flexible in terms of funding priorities and listen to the needs of trans* and intersex activists on the ground rather than trying to fit them into what funders believe is important (for instance, access to medical services i.e. hormone therapy and surgeries). Be willing to talk honestly with and get feedback from grantees." -SURVEY RESPONDENT

Groups Would Like to Have Extra Funding for... (n=340)



How Donors Can Be Partners: Additional Support

In addition to core funding, trans* and intersex groups seek other kinds of support from donors. The survey revealed that groups have three strong priorities for additional support: 1) networking and exchanges with other trans*/intersex groups, 2) skills training and 3) mentoring programs for group leaders. Other types of support, such as political support from allied organizations, introductions to politicians and decision-makers and support from religious groups, are not as high on groups' agendas.



Non-Financial Support Desired Most (n=312)

Groups want opportunities to network and work together with other groups.

These findings are a clear call to donors to fund networking and exchanges for trans* and intersex groups. After attending an international trans* health conference, one intersex leader said: "Exposure to other intersex activists from around the world is helping us to study and gauge their successes against our own as well as against our challenges. These networks are helping us form a bigger resource base when it comes to search for information, experts, and dissemination of our own best practices and experiences. This way ... international intersex voices can be heard by local constituents, building greater solidarity." After attending an International AIDS Conference, a trans* group leader shared: "The international experience and the opportunity to be visible in international spaces reinforces our advocacy capacity and helps to contextualize for us the defense of human rights and positioning relative to different decision makers."

Despite this great need, there are few opportunities for trans and intersex groups to work together. Large international and regional meetings for trans* activists take place in Europe and the United States¹⁴—but only rarely in other parts of the world. It is often impossible for many trans* leaders to travel to those events—usually because of lack of funds. Activists in rural or hard-to-reach places (such as Pacific Islands) experience particular isolation. With more opportunities for groups to convene—or the provision of additional funds to enable groups to attend convenings—this isolation could be overcome and groups could work together to build stronger, more cohesive movements.

Groups want skills training.

Groups express a desire for training on a wide variety of skills that would increase their capacity to organize and serve their communities. Fundraising and grant writing skills are the top priority of the majority of groups, with program development and financial management second and third. The priorities for skills training vary by region (see second table, next page).

14 Such as the biannual Transgender Europe Council or the annual Philadelphia Trans-Health Conference, Gender Odyssey, Fantasia Fair and Southern Comfort.

Skills Training Desired Most (n=311)

All Regions



By Region

NORTH AMERICA

- Fundraising, including writing grant proposals and reports
- 2. Program strategy and development
- 3. Community organizing

LATIN AMERICA & CARIBBEAN

- Fundraising, including writing grant proposals and reports
- 2. Budgeting and financial management
- 3. Political advocacy
- 4. Personal development/ personal leadership qualities

MIDDLE EAST / NORTH AFRICA

- Fundraising, including writing grant proposals and reports
- 2. Budgeting and financial management
- 3. Political advocacy
- Personal development/ personal leadership qualities
- 5. Safety and security

AFRICA

- Fundraising, including writing grant proposals and reports
- 2. Budgeting and financial management
- 3. Political advocacy
- 4. Program strategy and development
- 5. Community organizing
- 6. Monitoring and evaluation

EUROPE

- Fundraising, including writing grant proposals and reports
- 2. Political advocacy
- 3. Program strategy and development
- 4. Community organizing

ΑιΑ

- 1. Fundraising, including writing grant proposals and reports
- 2. Budgeting and financial management
- 3. Program strategy and development
- 4. Monitoring and evaluation
- 5. Community organizing

PACIFIC

- 1. Program strategy and development
- 2. Fundraising, including writing grant proposals and reports
- 3. Budgeting and financial management
- 4. Monitoring and evaluation
- 5. Political advocacy

(bold = more than 50% of groups mentioned, others = more than 30% of groups mentioned)

CONCLUSION: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DONORS

We offer the following recommendations to help bridge the gap between the needs of trans* and intersex groups and current funding practices. We hope funders will use these recommendations to increase their support of trans* and intersex groups, enabling donors and activists to work effectively together to realize the rights of trans* and intersex people.

1. Fund intersex groups and trans* groups as distinct areas of work, not subsumed under the LGBTI or "trans and intersex" (TI) umbrellas. Some LGBTI groups are doing useful work around trans* and intersex rights, but most have not prioritized these issues and most do not have the expertise to do this work well. Similarly, some trans*focused groups are doing effective work with intersex communities, but many are not. Look for independent intersex and trans* groups and fund them directly. If you are funding LGBTI groups or TI groups,

ask them how they prioritize trans* or intersex work. Also ask them how trans* and intersex people play leadership and decision-making roles within their organization.

2. Include trans* and intersex work in every relevant area of your grantmaking strategy. If you fund girls' and women's education, consider how education projects for trans* women, trans* men perceived as women, and trans youth fit into that portfolio. If you fund reproductive health and justice, consider projects to protect intersex people's right to self-determination and bodily integrity. Trans* and intersex work fits naturally into a wide range of issue areas, from employment and education to health care access and reproductive justice, from arts and culture to legal reform.

"The only way to empower trans communities is to have them create their own programs beneficial for the community. This way, trans groups are liable to the development of their communities..." -SURVEY RESPONDENT

"Trans work tends to be relegated to the foundations' LGBT portfolios (if those exist) and not considered by other program officers, even though many of our projects may be more aligned with portfolios focused on public health, access to jobs, poverty or school success." -SURVEY RESPONDENT

- 3. Support groups that are led by trans* or intersex people. The extent to which a group's leaders reflect the communities it serves is a crucial indicator of whether the group is truly in touch with its community and whether it is enabling trans* and intersex people to make decisions and set priorities. In order to realize the rights of trans* and intersex people, money must be put directly in the hands of trans* and intersex activists themselves.
- 4. Recognize the diversity of trans and intersex communities and respect local definitions. Gender is an incredibly complex social phenomenon. Many groups have adopted the terms "intersex" or "trans*" but those terms hold different meanings in different cultural contexts. Assume that the range of people included in these categories (including the extent to which intersex people are in trans* communities) differs from place to place. Be familiar with general definitions and also be ready to learn the local terms and understandings in each location where you work.
- 5. Seek groups whose work is representative of the communities they serve. Some groups focus on one specific demographic of trans* or intersex people and others reach communities with significant diversity with regard to gender, sex and bodies. In evaluating an organization for funding, ask whether it is truly representing the full range of trans* or intersex people it claims to represent. For example, if a program targets all trans* people, is it effectively reaching the range of trans* people living in that community, or is it weighted toward trans* men, trans* women, or another group? Different trans* and

intersex populations have different needs, and there may need to be multiple groups in a given locale in order to serve the diversity of communities there. If a group is serving only one segment of a diverse community, consider whether it should expand its reach, or whether it is appropriately targeted and should partner with other groups from other segments of the community.

6. Pay specific attention to groups working with trans* and intersex people who are marginalized in multiple ways. Trans* and intersex people who are additionally affected by discrimination based on class, race, disability or other factors are likely to get left out of development programs and sidelined within organizations. People facing multiple discriminations are often in greatest need of assistance. In addition, ask what, if anything, groups are doing to support leadership development in the most marginalized parts of the community. Projects created by and for the most marginalized people are powerful sites for transformation.

7. Help groups hire from affected communities by funding and providing capacity building and professional development opportunities. It is an asset of trans* and intersex groups that their staff, for the most part, reflect the realities of their constituencies. It means that staff are likely to have a deep understanding of the problems, insight into possible solutions, and knowledge of how best to mobilize their communities to action. However, it can be challenging to find qualified candidates for some positions. Funders can help by providing additional support for training, mentorship and professional development. Capacity building should be combined with core support, and needs should be identified and prioritized by groups themselves. Supporting peer exchanges and peer-led learning among trans* and intersex groups is one promising approach. Donors should also recognize that taking advantage of these opportunities can be

"Work directly with our trans organizations, without intermediaries such as technical assistance NGOs receiving our resources and getting most of them. We should receive resources directly and funders should support us to have good management, at least the first few times." -SURVEY RESPONDENT

time-intensive for grantees. In a small organization, taking staff out of the office for training can impact the group's ability to do its work, so donors should include additional funding to ensure sufficient staff coverage during capacity building activities.

TRANS* GROUP SPOTLIGHT: Santi Seva, Bhadrak, Orissa, India

Santi Seva began as an informal community network of *hijras, maichiyas*, and other trans* women people in Orissa, who started to organize in 2006 to try to meet their community's needs. Santi Seva was launched with assistance and encouragement from SAATHII, an NGO that supports HIV prevention work in the area. SAATHII helped produce Santi Seva's first fundraiser, which generated enough revenue to launch a livelihood micro-loans program and establish an emergency health fund. With support and ongoing capacity building assistance from SAATHII, Santi Seva took off.

In seven years, Santi Seva has become a vital community resource. Today it runs programs for hundreds of people, including financial self-help groups, non-formal adult education, HIV and general health services, and more—resulting in marked improvements in livelihood, literacy and health. Santi Seva has also brought trans* concerns to the attention of government and media through participation in state- and national-level coalitions.

Santi Seva's success was made possible by the organizational assistance received from SAATHII, whose commitment to supporting grassroots leadership ensured that Santi Seva remained rooted in the community it serves even as it grew.

- 8. Provide general operating support and multi-year grants, and seek to streamline funding procedures. General operating support enables groups to pursue their own priorities, as well as cover necessary administrative costs. Multi-year grants provide essential financial stability. Further, there is an opportunity cost in seeking funding, and too much time spent on drafting applications and reports can take away from a group's capacity to implement programs. Make sure that the time and resources a group must put into your application and reporting processes are surpassed by the value of the support you provide.
- **9.** Train foundation staff on trans* and intersex issues, and hire trans* and intersex experts in your funding organization. If program staff do not understand trans* and intersex communities or the issues that trans* and intersex groups are working on, they will have a hard time assessing potential grantees or explaining the work to trustees. Not only those who work with these groups specifically, but all program staff, should know enough to recognize when a trans* or intersex group project would be a good fit for their portfolio. Donors should also be thoughtful about hiring trans* and intersex-identified staff—not necessarily only for their trans* or intersex-related work—as part of diversity strategies.
- **10. Track your funding for trans* and intersex issues.** Lack of data about funding for trans* and intersex work is an impediment to identifying and filling gaps in the funding landscape. Track and report your support for trans* and intersex issues, which will enable funder networks and institutions like the Foundation Center to track changes over time.

REFERENCES

i Butler, J (2004). Undoing Gender. New York: Routledge

ii Grant J, Mottet L, Tanis J, Harrison J, Herman J, & Keisling M (2011). Injustice at every turn: a report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey. Washington: National Centre for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force. p 88. Accessed 3 October 2013 at: http://www.thetaskforce.org/reports_and_research/ntds;

Motmans, J (2009). Being transgender in Belgium: Mapping the social and legal situation of transgender people. Institute for the Equality of Women and Men. Accessed 5 November 2013 at: http://igvm-iefh.belgium.be/fr/binaries/34%20-%20Transgender_ENG_ tcm337-99783.pdf;

Whittle, S, Turner, L, and Al-Alami, M (2007). Engendered penalties: transgender and transsexual people's experiences of inequality and discrimination. The Equalities Review. Accessed 28 August 2013 at: http://www.pfc.org.uk/pdf/EngenderedPenalties.pdf. p. 38. iii Winter, S (2012). Lost in Translation: Transgender people, rights and HIV vulnerability in the Asia-Pacific region. Thailand: UNDP Asia Pacific Regional Center. Accessed on 5 November 2013 at: http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/hiv-aids/ lost-in-transition--transgender-people--rights-and-hiv-vulnerabi/. P. 9.

iv European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (2013). EU LGBT survey – European Union lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender survey: Results at a glance, Accessed at: http://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/eu-lgbt-survey-results-at-a-glance_en.pdf; Fondation Agnodice (2009). Entre le marteau et l'enclume... Rapport sur la situation des personnes transgenres actives dans les métiers du sexe à Lausanne. Accessed at: http://www.agnodice.ch/Entre-le-marteau-et-l-enclume;

Grant J, Mottet L, Tanis J, Harrison J, Herman J, and Keisling, M (2011). Injustice at every turn: a report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey, Washington : National Centre for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force, p 88. Accessed 3 October 2013 at: http://www.thetaskforce.org/reports_and_research/ntds;

Human Rights Watch (2008). "We Need a Law for Liberation": Gender, Sexuality, and Human Rights in a Changing Turkey. Accessed 4 October 2013 at: http://www.hrw.org/reports/2008/05/21/we-need-law-liberation-0;

Human Rights Watch (2011). "We'll Show You You're a Woman": Violence and Discrimination against Black Lesbians and Transgender Men in South Africa. Accessed 4 October 2013 at: http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/southafrica1211.pdf;

Human Rights Watch (2008). "These Everyday Humiliations": Violence Against Lesbians, Bisexual Women, and Transgender Men in Kyrgyzstan. Accessed 4 October 2013 at: http://www.hrw.org/reports/2008/10/06/these-everyday-humiliations-o;

Human Rights Watch (2012). "They Hunt Us Down for Fun" Discrimination and Police Violence Against Transgender Women in Kuwait, Accessed 4 October 2013 at: http://www.hrw.org/reports/2012/01/15/they-hunt-us-down-fun.

Instituto Runa (2007). Realidades Invisibles: Violencia contra Travestis, Transexuales y Transgeneros que Ejercen Comercio Sexual en la Ciudad de Lima. Lima: Instituto Runa;

International HIV/AIDS Alliance (2012). The Night is another country: Impunity and Violence against transgender women human rights defenders in Latin America. Accessed 4 October 2013 at: http://www.aidsalliance.org/publicationsdetails.aspx?id=90623&dm_t=0,0,0,0,0,

Kisia, A and Wahu, M (2010). East Africa - A People Condemned: The Human Rights Status of Lesbians, Gays, Bisexual, Transgender and Intersex Persons In East Africa 2009-2010. Kenya: UHAI – the East African Sexual Health and Rights Initiative. Accessed 4 October 2013 at: http://www.msmgf.org/files/msmgf//SubSaharanAfrica/A_People_Condemned.pdf;

New Zealand Human Rights Commission (2008). To Be Who I Am: Report of the Inquiry into Discrimination experienced by Transgender people. Accessed 28 August 2013 at: http://www.hrc.co.nz/hrc_new/hrc/cms/files/documents/15-Jan-2008_14-56-48_HRC_ Transgender_FINAL.pdf;

Nichols, A (2010). "Dance Ponnaya, Dance! Police Abuses Against Transgender Sex Workers in Sri Lanka" Feminist Criminology, 5 (195);

Whittle S, Turner L, and Al-Alami M (2007). Engendered penalties: transgender and transsexual people's experiences of inequality and discrimination. Accessed 28 August 2013 at: http://www.pfc.org.uk/pdf/EngenderedPenalties.pdf;

Winter, S (2012). Lost in Transition: Transgender people, rights and HIV vulnerability in the Asia-Pacific region. Thailand: UNDP Asia-Pacific Regional Centre. Accessed on 5 November 2013 at: http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/hiv-aids/lost-in-transition--transgender-people--rights-and-hiv-vulnerabi/. P. 9;

v Balzer, C and Hutta, J (2012). "Transrespect versus Transphobia Worldwide: A Comparative Review of the Human-rights Situation of Gender-variant/Trans People", TvT Publication Series, Vol. 6. Accessed 14 October 2013 at: http://www.transrespect-transphobia. org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT_research-report.pdf. P. 80.

vi Balzer, C and Hutta, J (2012). "Transrespect versus Transphobia Worldwide: A Comparative Review of the Human-rights Situation of Gender-variant/Trans People", TvT Publication Series. Vol. 6. Accessed 14 October 2013 at: http://www.transrespect-transphobia.org/uploads/downloads/Publications/TvT_research-report.pdf. P. 80.

vii Whittle S, Turner L, and Al-Alami, M (2007). Engendered penalties: transgender and transsexual people's experiences of inequality and discrimination. Accessed 28 August 2013 at: http://www.pfc.org.uk/pdf/EngenderedPenalties.pdf;

Winter, S (2012). Lost in Transition: Transgender people, rights and HIV vulnerability in the Asia-Pacific region. Thailand: UNDP Asia-Pacific Regional Centre. Accessed on 5 November 2013 at: http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/hiv-aids/lost-in-transition--transgender-people--rights-and-hiv-vulnerabi/. P. 9.

viii Grant, J, Mottet, L, Tanis, J, Harrison, J, Herman, J, and Keisling, M (2011). Injustice at every turn: a report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey. Washington: National Centre for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force. Accessed 3 October 2013 at: http://www.thetaskforce.org/reports_and_research/ntds. P. 88

ix Baral, S, Poteat, T, Strömdahl, T, Wirtz, A, Guadamuz, T, and Beyrer, C (2013). "Worldwide burden of HIV in transgender women: a systematic review and meta-analysis". The Lancet Infectious Diseases Vol. 13. P. 214

x Heylens, G, Verroken, C, De Cock, S, T'Sjoen, G and De Cuypere, G (forthcoming). "Effects of Different Steps in Gender Reassignment Therapy on Psychopathology: A Prospective Study of Persons with a Gender Identity Disorder." Journal of Sexual Medicine, online in advance of print; Colton Meier, S, Fitzgerald K, Pardo S and Babcock J (2011). "The Effects of Hormonal Gender Affirmation Treatment on Mental Health in Female-to-Male Transsexuals." Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health, 15:3, 281-299.

xi Grant, J, Mottet, L, Tanis, J, Harrison, J, Herman, J, and Keisling, M (2011). Injustice at every turn: a report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey. Washington: National Centre for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force. Accessed 3 October 2013 at: http://www.thetaskforce.org/reports_and_research/ntds. P. 88

xii Ghattas, D (2013). Human Rights between the Sexes - A preliminary study on the life situations of inter* individuals. Berlin: Henrich-Böll-Stiftung. Accessed at: http://www.boell.de/en/2013/10/21/human-rights-between-sexes;

Holmes, M (2009). Critical Intersex. Farham: Ashgate;

Organisation Intersex International - OII Intersex Network. Accessed at: http://oiiinternational.com;

xiii United Nations General Assembly, Human Rights Council (2013). Report of the Special Rapporteur on torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. A/HRC/22/53. Accessed 5 November 2013 at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session22/A.HRC.22.53_English.pdf.

xiv Karkazis, K (2008). Fixing Sex. Intersex, Medical Authority and Lived Experience. Durham & London: Duke University Press. Accessed at: www.fetaldex.org http://www.ilga-europe.org/home/news/for_media/media_releases/intersex_forum_2012_media_release

xv Greenberg, J (2012). Intersexuality and the Law. Why sex matters. New York & London: New York University Press.

xvi Ghattas, D (2013). Human Rights Between the Sexes - A preliminary study on the life situations of inter* individuals. Berlin: Heinrich Böll Stiftung. Accessed at: http://www.boell.de/en/2013/10/21/human-rights-between-sexes.

xvii Meyerowitz, A (2004). How Sex Changed. A History of Transsexuality in the US. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

xviii Currah, P, Juang, R, and Minter, S (2006). Transgender Rights. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press;

Stryker, S and Aizura, A (2013). The Transgender Studies Reader 2. New York: Routledge;

Stryker, S and Whittle, S (2006). The Transgender Studies Reader. New York: Routledge.

xix Missé, M and Coll-Planas, G (2010). El género desordenado. Críticas en torno a la patologización de la transexualidad. Madrid: Egales;

Spade, D (2011). Normal Life. Administrative Violence, Critical Trans Politics, and the Limits of Law. Brooklyn: South End Press. **xx** Reis, E (2009). Bodies in Doubt. An American History of Intersex. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.

xxi Cabral, M (2009). Interdicciones. Escrituras de la intersexualidad en castellano. Anarrés. Available at www.mulabi.org/Interdicciones2.pdf;

Holmes, M (2009). Critical Intersex. Farham: Ashgate.

xxii ILGA Europe (2012). The Second International Intersex Forum concluded [press release]. Accessed 5 November 2013 at http://www.ilga-europe.org/home/news/latest/intersex_forum_2012_media_release.

xxiii Funders for LGBTQ Issues (2012). Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual Transgender and Queer Grantmaking by U.S. Foundations, Calendar Year '11. Accessed 5 November 2013 at: http://www.lgbtfunders.org/files/2011LGBTQGrantmakingReport.pdf.

xxiv Mottet, L and Tanis, J (2008). Opening the Door to the Inclusion of Transgender People: The Nine Keys to Making Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Organizations Fully Transgender-Inclusive. New York: National Gay and Lesbian Task Force Policy Institute and the National Center for Transgender Equality. Accessed at: http://transequality.org/Resources/opening_the_door.pdf.
xxv Global Commission on HIV and the Law (2012) Risks, Rights and Health. Accessed at: http://www.hivlawcommission.org/resources/report/FinalReport-Risks, Rights&Health-EN.pdf. p. 53.

Global Commission on HIV and the Law, Godwin J (2010) Legal environments, human rights and HIV responses among men who have sex with men and transgender people in Asia and the Pacific: an agenda for action. Bangkok: United Nations Development Programme;

Khan, S, Hussain, M, Parveen, S, et al. (2009). "Living on the extreme margin: social exclusion of the transgender population (hijra) in Bangladesh" Journal of Health Population and Nutrition.Vol. 27. Pp. 441–51;

xxvi Aneka's community-led research has resulted in one published report so far: Chasing Numbers, Betraying People. Relooking at HIV Related Services in Karnataka. https://manoharban.files.wordpress.com/2012/03/chasing-numbers-betraying-people-eng-final.pdf.



GLOBAL ACTION FOR TRANS EQUALITY

American Jewish World Service

45 West 36th Street New York, NY 10018 USA

t: +1.212.792.2900

800.889.7146 (toll-free in the U.S.) **f:** +1.212.792.2930 **e:** ajws@ajws.org

www.ajws.org

facebook.com/americanjewishworldservice
twitter.com/ajws

GATE – Global Action for Trans* Equality

307 Seventh Avenue Suite 1201 New York, NY 10001 USA Avenida de Mayo 1365 4 piso, of. 38 CP 1085 Buenos Aires Argentina

t: +1.646.519.2020 **e:** gate@transactivists.org **t:** +54.9.65806999

www.transactivists.org

facebook.com/globalactionfortransequality